ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE LABOR AND COVMERCE STANDI NG COW TTEE
March 17, 2008
3:08 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Kurt O son, Chair
Representati ve Mark Neuman, Vice Chair
Representative Carl Gatto
Representative Gabrielle LeDoux
Representati ve Jay Ranras
Representative Robert L. "Bob" Buch
Representative Berta Gardner

VEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

CS FOR SPONSOR SUBSTI TUTE FOR SENATE BI LL NO. 230(FIN) am

"An Act establishing the film office in the Departnent of
Commerce, Community, and Economic Developnent; creating a
transferable tax credit applicable to certain film production
expenditures incurred in the state; and providing for an
effective date.”

- MOVED HCS CSSB 230(L&C) OQUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 230

SHORT TITLE: FILM OFFI CE/ FI LM PRODUCTI ON TAX CREDI T
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) ELLIS

01/ 16/ 08 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 16/ 08 (S) L&C, FIN

01/ 25/ 08 (S) SPONSOR SUBSTI TUTE | NTRODUCED- REFERRALS
01/ 25/ 08 (S) L&C, FIN

02/ 05/ 08 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 211

02/ 05/ 08 (S) Heard & Hel d

02/ 05/ 08 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 12/ 08 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 211

02/ 12/ 08 (S) Heard & Hel d

02/ 12/ 08 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 14/ 08 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 211

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -1- March 17, 2008



02/ 14/ 08 (S) Moved CSSB 230(L&C) Qut of Committee
02/ 14/ 08 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 15/ 08 (S) L&C RPT CS 4DP INR  SAME TITLE
02/ 15/ 08 (S) DP: ELLIS, DAVIS, STEVENS, HOFFMAN
02/ 15/ 08 (S) NR.  BUNDE

02/ 22/ 08 (S) FIN AT 9:00 AM SENATE FI NANCE 532
02/ 22/ 08 (S) Heard & Hel d

02/ 22/ 08 (S) M NUTE( FI N)

02/ 28/ 08 (S) FIN AT 9:00 AM SENATE FI NANCE 532
02/ 28/ 08 (S) Moved CSSSSB 230(FIN) Qut of Committee
02/ 28/ 08 (S) M NUTE( FI N)

02/ 29/ 08 (S) FIN RPT CS 4DP 1INR NEW TI TLE

02/ 29/ 08 (S) DP: STEDMAN, ELTON, THOVAS, HUGG NS
02/ 29/ 08 (S) NR. OLSON

03/ 05/ 08 (S) TRANSM TTED TO (H)

03/ 05/ 08 (S) VERSI ON:  CSSSSB 230( FI N) AM

03/ 10/ 08 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS

03/ 10/ 08 (H) L&C, FIN

03/ 17/ 08 (H) L&C AT 3: 00 PM BARNES 124

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR JOHNNY ELLI S

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answer ed questions as the pri
SB 230.

MAX HENSLEY, Staff

to Senator Johnny Ellis

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Presented SB 230 on behalf
sponsor, Senator Johnny Ellis, and answered questio

BOB CROCKETT, Past President, Board Menber
Al aska Fil m Group, Juneau, Al aska

me sponsor of

of the prinme
ns on SB 230.

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 230.

KATE TESAR, Pro Bono | obbyi st
Al aska Fil m Group
Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 230.

MAYA FALGANEK, Associ ate Professor
Uni versity of Al aska Fairbanks
Fai r banks, Al aska

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 2-

March 17, 2008



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 230.

GORDON CARL SON
Cantwel | , Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 230.

DAMA CHASLE, Production Executive
Los Angeles, California
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 230.

PAM FOREMAN

Kodi ak, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 230.
BRI CE HABEGER

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 230.
ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR KURT COLSON called the House Labor and Commerce Standing

Conmittee neeting to order at 3:08:08 PM Representati ves
Gatto, Gardner, Neunman, and O son were present at the call to
order. Representati ves LeDoux, Ranras, and Buch arrived as the

neeting was in progress.

SB 230-FI LM OFFI CE/ FI LM PRODUCTI ON TAX CREDI T

3:08: 23 PM

CHAI R OLSON announced that the only order of business would be
CS FOR SPONSCR SUBSTI TUTE FOR SENATE BILL NO 230(FIN am "An
Act establishing the film office in the Departnment of Comerce,
Communi ty, and Economi c Devel opnent; creating a transferable tax
credit applicable to <certain film production expenditures
incurred in the state; and providing for an effective date."

SENATOR JOHNNY ELLIS, Alaska State Legislature, testifying as
prime sponsor of SB 230 introduced his staff, Mix Hensley.
Senator Ellis stated that SB 230 would help provide incentives
for the filmindustry to the benefit of Alaskans. This bill is
an inportant step to diversify the econony, he said, noting that
45 states have active filmoffices, alnost all with sonme type of
i ncentive program O these, 12 states offer transferable tax
credits and many others offer direct grants.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 3- March 17, 2008



SENATOR ELLIS related sonme statistics that denobnstrate other
states’ successes such as New Mexico, whose tax incentive
enacted in 2001 initially spent $1.5 mllion in expenditures.
However, in 2007, the film industry spent $476 mllion in New
Mexi co. Louisiana went from $7 mllion in film spending in 2003
to $350 mllion in 2006. These are states not normally thought
of as great locations for the film industry, but with an active
filmoffice to answer the phones, to coordinate permts for this
type of activity, and to assist in offering incentives, these

states have been able to aid their |ocal econom es. The film
industry offers comunities lots of jobs and snall business
opportunities. Al aska has lost film opportunities in recent

years such as 30 Days of Ni ght, which was produced by Col unbia
Pictures and set in Barrow, but was filnmed in New Zealand with a
production budget of $32 mllion. The Proposal produced by
[ Touchstone Filns] features Sandra Bull ock, set in Sitka, Al aska
but filmed in doucester, Massachusetts. This filmis currently
in pre-production and is scheduled to be released in Septenber
20009. He noted one upcomng film that he would hope could be
filmed in Sitka is the The Yiddish Policenen’s Union, witten
and directed by the Coen Brothers, based on a novel set in
Si t ka. It's a rare occasion when the film director has the
authority to film in the authentic |ocation, he noted. Sean
Penn insisted on filmng Into the WId in Al aska and |ocal
people were hired and |ocal businesses benefited, he opined.
However, the producers exanmne their profits in the film
deci si on maki ng process.

3:13: 06 PM

MAX HENSLEY, Staff to Senator Johnny Ellis, Al aska State
Legi slature, explained SB 230 on behalf of the prime sponsor,
Senator Johnny Ellis. M. Hensley referred to proposed Section
1, which would authorize the Departnent of Comrerce, Community,
& Econom ¢ Devel opnent (DCCED) to cooperate with the Departnent
of Revenue (DOR) to provide a transferable film production tax

credit that nust be wused wthin 3 years of issue. He
characterized the proposed Article 2, Section 2, as the bulk of
the bill which outlines the duties of film office including

provi sions to pronote Al aska as an appropriate location for film
production, certify an internship program and provide an annua

report to the legislature. He referred to page 3, which
authorizes the film office to administer the film production
incentive program which set the mninmum requirenents for
eligibility for productions, such that a production nust spend a
m ni mum of $100,000 in qualified expenditures over 24 nonths and
must receive approval by the film office. This bill disallows

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -4- March 17, 2008



news, weather, current events, internal corporate productions,
| ocal adverti sing, i nfomerci al s, obscene productions, and
political advertisements from qualifying for the tax credits.
He referred to the bottom of page 3, which outlines the
qualifications for the transferable tax credit. He expl ai ned
the process, including that a producer nust first apply for the
transferable tax credit and provide such itens as the script or
a synopsis of the production; nust include the nanmes of the

pr oducer, di rector, proposed cast, the estimated start,
conpl eti on, and filmng dates; and  nust provi de ot her
information the film office requires to determne eligibility
for the transferable tax credit. If approved, the film office

woul d issue the production conmpany a prelimnary certificate
which would include an outline of the credits that the conpany
could antici pate. He referred to page 4, to the provision that
outlines the film production tax credit. He noted the
transferable tax credit would consist of 30 percent of the
qual i fied spending, plus a 10 percent bonus for expenditures for
Al askan payroll, and a 2 percent bonus for spending in rural
areas, and an additional 2 percent for filmng between Cctober
and May. He noted that prior to receiving any tax credit, the
producer nust submt to the film office a cost report that has
been verified by an independent certified public accountant
(CPA) . He referred to pages 4-6, which lists the qualifying
expendi tures i ncl udi ng pr epr oducti on, producti on, and
post production spending that nust be incurred in the state and
on itens used in the production. Some itens not covered include
such itens as the cost for the CPA verification, cost for
mar keting or distribution of the film or profit sharing costs.

3:17:49 PM

MR. HENSLEY, in response to Representative Gatto, answered that
the exceptions include pornographic filnms so pornographic
filmakers would not qualify for the transferable tax credits.

3:18: 38 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX inquired as to what taxes would apply to a
film conpany that was not based in Alaska, but is filmed in
Al aska. In further response to Representative LeDoux, Senator
Ellis answered that all the film conpanies set up limted
liability corporations (LLCs) in order to benefit from the tax
st at us. Several suggestions were nmade to amend SB 230 to
initiate a tax on LLCs in order to capture revenues for the
state treasury. However, he noted that initiating a tax would
entail a major policy call with overarching ramfications for

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 5- March 17, 2008



future economc activity. He opined that he personally thinks
that taxing LLCs would be a mstake, although the discussion
could start with SB 230. The taxes that would be paid would
accrue to the local areas of the state.

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX related her wunderstanding that the bill
woul d give film conpanies a credit to use to pay against |oca
t axes.

MR. HENSLEY explained that the credit SB 230 would offer is a
transferable tax credit, which is the nost comon nechani sm used
anong the states that provide incentives for the film industry.
That transferable tax credit would be applicable to corporate
tax liability that could apply to a nunber of industries. The
transferable tax credit would be issued to the film conpany
based on its spending. In turn, the film conpany would sell the
transferable tax credit through a broker or to a conpany that
hol ds a corporate incone tax liability, he offered.

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX inquired as to whether the film conpany
could sell its tax credit to oil conpani es.

MR. HENSLEY answered it could do so or it could sell the
transferabl e t ax credit to t he grocery store or a
t el econmuni cati ons conpany.

3:22:12 PM

SENATOR ELLIS pointed out that currently less than a billion
dollars of corporate incone tax is paid to the state treasury by

a variety of corporations. He further noted his understanding
that two of three nmmjor oil conpanies do not participate in
transferable tax credits. If the concern entails sonme general

di sconfort wth oil conmpanies in Alaska, then it is helpful to
know that two oil conpanies do not participate.

3:22: 55 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS inquired as to the process a conpany woul d
use to apply for the transferable tax credit.

MR. HENSLEY pointed out that in all the other states that have
introduced simlar prograns, brokers purchase the transferable
tax credits fromout of state film conpanies and market them to
in state corporations interested in purchasing them

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 6- March 17, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS related his wunderstanding that brokers
would earn a conmm ssion, buyers would obtain the transferable
tax credit, and the private sector would enjoy the benefit from
addi tional | obs. Representative Ranras also noted that he
intends to offer an amendnent |ater. He inquired as the
al l ocation process when an actor, such as Sean Penn, shoot a 90
day filmin Al aska, but 10 days were filnmed in another |ocation
He further inquired as to the cap on talent.

SENATOR ELLIS pointed out that SB 230 set a limtation in the
bill on high paid talent at a | evel the other body agreed upon.

SENATOR ELLIS explained that the I|imtation adopted in the
Senate Finance Conmttee capped a dollar anmount on paynents to
the primary stars.

MR. HENSLEY referred to page 5, paragraph (10), which outlines
the qualified expenditures for the total aggregate payroll for
services perfornmed in Alaska to clarify the types of allowable
expendi t ur es.

SENATOR ELLIS noted that if the limtation were renoved, the
primary star’'s salary would be subsuned into the overal
payrol | .

3:27:43 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS stated he is a “big fan of this bill”. He
recalled the program The Deadliest Catch and inquired how the
series would be handled wunder the bill, and whether the
production cost would be allocated for a particular episode. He
noted the $30 million in production costs for a film such as

Into the WId. He further inquired that if $5 mllion of $30
mllion was spent in Al aska, what portion of that anmount would
be eligible for a tax credit.

SENATOR ELLI S asked to hold off on that specific question.
3:29:42 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN expressed concern about the fiscal cost to
state to create a tax credit when many good progranms are not

funded due to funding constraints.

SENATOR ELLIS agreed. He offered to work to help secure
addi tional funding for foster children.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -7- March 17, 2008



3:32: 05 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVAN inquired, with respect to the transferable
tax credit, to clarify the interplay between the Departnent of
Commerce (DCCED), Community, & Econom c Developnent and the
Depart ment of Revenue (DOR)

SENATOR ELLI'S answered that each departnent is responsibile for
di fferent provisions of SB 230.

MR. HENSLEY explained that the film office would be created
under the DCCED, which would evaluate and admnister the
i ncentive program Once credits were issued, the transferable
tax credit would be redeened through DOR, and overall the
departments would work in cooperation with one anot her.

SENATOR ELLIS, in response to Representative Neuman, answered
that the Legislative Budget and Audit Conmittee (LB&A) would
performany audits. This bill also provides for a review of the
incentive programin 5 years. He noted that either agency could
audit its own internal functions, but that LB&A would audit the
entire filmoffice.

MR. HENSLEY added that the film office wll provide the

| egislature with an annual report to informit of the anmount of
transferable tax credits issued.

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN inquired as to what assurance there is

that the departnments would work together. He further inquired
as to how the film office wll pronote film production in
Al aska.

SENATOR ELLIS explained that the film office previously pronoted
filmaking in Alaska prior to budget cuts. Currently the film
office consists of a quarter tine position. Thus, the film

of fice would conduct its pronotion through a variety of nethods
i ncluding responding to e-nmils, answering the phone, devel oping
or updating collateral mat eri al s, and conducting general
pronotion activity that npost states perform

3:36:25 PM

SENATOR ELLIS, in response to Representative Neuman, answered
that under SB 230, he anticipates that the film office would
perform outreach to people who scout l|ocations and wite scripts
to entice film conpanies to produce films in Al aska.
Qpportunities exist to reach out to studios, primarily to

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 8- March 17, 2008



ci nemat ogr aphers, which is necessary since the state conpetes at

a national or global |evel. Bef ore anyone gets too concerned
about the state subsidizing the film industry, he pointed out
that the state subsidies alnbst all major industries, which

represents a state and private industry partnership to maxim ze
t he benefits to Al askans.

3:39: 05 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN stressed that he would like to see the
state expand its current industries. He noted the floundering
dairy and wood industries in Al aska. He asked if |[ocal

conpanies such as hotels could qualify for transferable tax
credits. He further inquired why infonmercials are disall owed.

MR. HENSLEY referred to page 3, lines 18-19, which disallows any

advertisenment infonercial, or any production that solicits
funds, except for a commercial television advertisenent produced
for nat i onal di stri bution. In further response to

Representative Neuman, M. Hensley answered that in order to
qualify for national distribution, the advertisenents would need
to be shown nationw de, and advertising in one state other than
Al aska woul d not |ikely qualify.

3:42: 01 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN referred to page 5, proposed paragraph
(17), and stated the “other simlar production expenditures”
seens too broad.

SENATOR ELLIS answered that on page 5, proposed paragraph (17)
is intended to capture all expenditures that the film office
determnes qualifies, or that should qualify, for t he
transferable tax credit. He said that he anticipates that the
technology in the industry would continue to progress.

MR. HENSLEY further clarified that five years ago digital film
editing did not occur. Thus, the |anguage on page 3, proposed
paragraph (17) woul d al so enconpass new technol ogy.

SENATOR ELLIS offered that his approach has been aggressive, but
reasonable wth the goal of refining the bill to produce the
best product in SB 230.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO rel ated his understanding that SB 230 woul d

allow transferable tax credits that include an initial 30
percent transferable tax credit, with an additional 10 percent

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -9- March 17, 2008



for Alaskan wages paid, plus 2 percent credit for off season
filmng, and an additional 2 percent for rural hire. He asked
if this ratio is conpetitive

SENATOR ELLIS opined that the anmount of the transferable tax
credit is “right at his tolerance level,” but he said he
believes it is conpetitive. He offered that he initially
thought that 20 to 25 percent seened |ike enough, but after
listening to other state’'s film offices throughout the country
that 30 percent transferable tax credits to be conpetitive. He
pointed out that SB 230 represents a conpetitive rate based on
recommendations from industry analysts that cannot benefit from
SB 230. He highlighted that the transferable tax credits are
only provided if the econom c benefit actually occurs.

3:44:55 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO opined that a strategy to start high and
reduce the rate if “five film conpanies are tripping over one
anot her” seened |ike a good strategy.

SENATOR ELLIS reiterated that the effectiveness of the film
office woul d be revi ewed.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO posed a scenario in which a filmis highly
successful . He inquired as to whether the state would tax the
profit.

SENATOR ELLIS answered that SB 230 does not contenplate a
wi ndfall profits tax, or a piece of the profit sharing with the
industry. He pointed out that filmng in Al aska would provide a
nmeans to show the national world the beauty of Al aska to enhance
tourism economc opportunities, and the nmany reasons that
Al askans |ive here. He surmsed that it would probably not be
wel | received by industry to institute a profit sharing tax and
m ght be the tipping point against filmng in Al aska.

3:48:14 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO offered his encouragenent for benefits to
Al aska from SB 230. He pointed out that the program The
Deadl i est Catch showcased Al aska’s fishernen and other series,
such as one that highlights the toughest jobs could also
denonstrate the effectiveness of the oil industry regulation in
Al aska.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 10- March 17, 2008



MR. HENSLEY referred to a news article, titled “TV show heats up
king crab market” [by Margaret Bauman], Al aska Journal of
Commerce, that credits a 17 percent increase in king crab sales

to the program The Deadliest Catch. In fact, one nmgjor
restaurant chain will add the name of the vessel, the “Tine
Bandit,” to its nmenu. However, he noted that decisions are nade
annually to determne whether a program will continue to be
ai red.

3:50: 09 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER referred to page 4, line 17, which read
“(3) an additional two percent of qualified expenditure made in
the state between COctober 1 and March 30.” She inquired as to
the rationale for offering an incentive when often winter is a
sal eabl e commodity for Al aska.

SENATOR ELLIS answered that SB 230 attenpts to offer incentives
at a tinme when many communities go into econom c sl owdown. He
al so pointed out that many of the winter scenes can be filnmed in
British Colunbia so an incentive is offered in order to be
conpetitive

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER referred to proposed Section 44.33.232,
and inquired as to the timng and clarification of the
appropri ations.

MR. HENSLEY explained that this section refers to appropriations
to the DCCED for operating funds for admnistering the film
of fice. He referred to the fiscal note of approximately
$300, 000.

3:52:31 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH, in response to an earlier question, noted
that Article 2A refers to the duties of the film office, which
i ncludes directing the DCCED and DOR to work in cooperation with
one anot her. He highlighted that the letters of reciprocation
currently exist and that a letter of conveyance could foster the
desi red cooperati on.

SENATOR ELLIS responded that the two departnents have a history
of working together so if nore specificity is necessary, that it
can be facilitated.

3:53:19 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -11- March 17, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX inquired as to the reason that SB 230
would elimnate sonme productions from eligibility for the

transferable tax credit listed in proposed Section 44.33.233
(b), such as those productions produced primarily for
i ndustri al, cor por at e, or i nstitutional pur poses, and

adverti sement i nfonercials.

MR. HENSLEY answered that some productions are excluded since
progranms such as news or weather cannot be filnmed outside the

state. O her prograns that are for internal use are not paid
for by the production conpanies. | nstead, these prograns are
paid for by sponsors so an incentive is not needed. He

highlighted that infonercials are paid by the conpanies that
advertise the “extra sharp knife” to pay for the infonercial and
that the advertising is not paid by the producer.

3:55:18 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX inquired as to whether the distinction
should be nmade to limt the type of filmng. She suggested that
anot her approach would be to offer incentives to anyone who cane
to Alaska to produce a film

SENATOR ELLIS explained that the industry made a conpelling
argunent during prior commttee hearings in the Senate. He
offered a willingness to consider changing the list of eligible
productions and noted that SB 230 could be “tweaked.”

MR. HENSLEY, in response to Representative LeDoux, explained
that the bill excludes small productions so as not to inundate
the film office since it wll admnister the applications.
Thus, SB 230 limts eligibility to those projects that have
$100,000 or nmore in qualified expenditures. The limts help to
di scourage people from filmng, “ny Al askan vacation.” Thi s
bill’s intent is to focus on incentives for worthwhile film
projects in Al aska.

SENATOR ELLIS further enphasized that the small film office
woul d not have tine to spend on lots of applications. Thus, the
m ni mum application anount tends to curb the projects that
require tine to process, but produce little econom c benefit to
the state.

MR. HENSLEY noted that the various costs of production wll be
hi ghlighted in the upcom ng presentation.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -12- March 17, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX referred to page 3, paragraph (5), which
excl udes sexually explicit conduct. She noted that nost regul ar
prograns advertise sexually explicit products and asked for
clarification.

SENATOR ELLIS answered that SB 230 uses the national standard
“as defined by 18 U S.C. 2256.” He further noted that this is
the method used by other states to limt incentives to the
por nographic filmindustry.

MR. HENSLEY offered to furnish a copy of the national standard
to comm ttee nmenbers.

The commttee took an at-ease from4:00 p.m to 4:01 p. m
4:01: 21 PM

BOB CROCKETT, Past President; Board Menber, Al aska Film G oup,
began his PowerPoint presentation by stating that the Al aska
Film Goup is a non-profit trade association with a diverse
menber ship base that was forned in 1992 as a voice for the film
and video industry of Al aska. The Alaska Film Goup (AFQG
advocates for the film industry in order to create econonic
opportunities and jobs for its nmenbers and Al aska s businesses.
He opined that the State of Alaska's goals and the AFG s goals
are the same - progress, productivity, and putting Al askans to
wor K.

KATE TESAR, Pro bono |obbyist, Alaska Film Goup, stated that
she is filling in today for sonmeone who was unable to attend the
heari ng. She noted the packet contains letters of support from
around the state. She assisted in highlighting SB 230 in the
Power Poi nt presentati on. She read slide 3, |abeled Senate Bil
230, and stated that SB 230 creates diversification of our
econony, new private sector jobs, new training prograns, |obs
for interns, crew, and native Alaskans, along with an infusion
of construction dollars - mllions of dollars worth of [public
relations], - opportunities in rural Alaska, and tax credits for
cor porations.

M5 TESAR hi ghlighted that SB 230 has drawn conponents from ot her
states’ prograns such as Louisiana and New Mexico. She referred
to the slide, “Who Benefits?” and read that filns benefit wage
earners, air service providers, <catering conpanies, hotels,
retailers, freight conpani es, mai nt enance firnms, renta
conpani es, security conpanies, and tourism busi nesses.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 13- March 17, 2008



4:05:01 PM

M5. TESAR opined that Alaska is mssing out since it is not
conpetitive in the global film industry. She highlighted that
45 states currently have a film incentive program She noted
that film conpanies inquire first about any incentives that are
and if there are none, the conpany is no longer interested in
filmng in Al aska. A film industry can inpact all communities
across Alaska and many will leave infrastructure behind such as
sound studi os, sound stages, and novie sets. She noted that the
set for Wite Fang, filnmed in Haines, Alaska continues to be a
tourist attraction 10 years after production.

MR. CROCKETT explained that tax credit incentives process such
that the production conpany applies for the transferable tax
credit, the film office approves production, i ssues a
prelimnary certificate with estimated tax credit anounts, and
the novie is filmed. The production conpany submits a spending
report, verified by the DCCED and an independent certified
public accountant (CPA). The film office and the DOR issue the
transferable tax credit. The producer sells the credit to an
Al aska corporate taxpayer, generally through a broker and the
t axpayer redeens the transferable credit to offset corporate tax
liability, which nmust be used within a 3 year timefrane.

MR. CROCKETT referred to page 4, |abeled “Econonic |Inpacts.” He
opi ned that Northern Exposure put Roslyn, Washington on the nmap.

Early network pronotions showed a sign that read, “Gcely,
Al aska, popul ation 839. The nunber was an inside joke that
referred to the $839,000 allotted for each episode, even though
it was a |low budget series, he offered. It cost over $92
mllion to produce over its 4-year run. At an estimated “ground
spend” of 75 percent, that put over $69 mllion into

Washi ngton’ s econony.
4. 06: 55 PM

M5. TESAR offered that Canada has been Alaska’ s biggest
conpetitor for film production | ocations. From 2001- 2005, 142
features were produced in Canada. Canada has built an
infrastructure around the filmindustry and at tinmes has so many
films booked for production that not enough crew can neet the
demand, she opi ned. She noted that Canada is currently
reviewng and considering increasing its tax incentives, since
so many states conpete for fil ns. She offered exanples of sone
filmse set in Alaska, such as The Guardian, that was set in
Kodi ak, was filmed for one week in Al aska, but the rest of the

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -14- March 17, 2008



film was shot in Louisiana and South Carolina due to the
incentive programoffered in Louisiana. In two years tinme, film
jobs in Louisiana went from approximtely 5,400 jobs to 13,445
jobs due to the increase in film expenditures, while film
production rose from $7 mllion to $343 mllion. In 2007, she
hi ghlighted that Louisiana had 3 television series and 34
feature films filmng inits state.

4:08: 26 PM

MR. CROCKETT nentioned that The Deadliest Catch is currently in
its third season and has a crew of 30, of which only 2 are

Al askans. The per season “ground spend” is $3.7 mllion. He
opined that Alaska mssed out on Men in Trees with a “ground
spend” of $20 mllion per season but is currently shot in

Vancouver, British Colunbia. Anot her project that is upcom ng
series is Anerica’ s Toughest Jobs, which is an NBC sponsored
seri es. Features have the highest “ground spend” equating to
approximately 75 percent of a films total budget, he said. A
recent feature Alaska lost was Thirty Days of N ght, previously
mentioned, set in Barrow, but shot in New Zealand wth an
estimated “ground spend” of $37.5 mllion. He offered that
these are the types of projects that SB 230 woul d target.

M5. TESAR referred to a slide labeled, *“Wlconme to Sitka,
Massachusetts”. She opined that w thout incentives, rebates, or
tax credits that Alaska lost the filmng of the Wit D sney
Pictures film produced by Touchstone Pictures, The Proposal
starring Sandra Bullock to @ oucester, Massachusetts. She
hi ghli ghted that Mssachusetts offers incentives, rebates, and
tax credits, plus a coastline that resenbl es Al aska.

MR. CROCKETT referred to a slide called “Show Me the Money”
which lists the econom c inpact per shooting day ranging from
$35, 000 per day for |owend budget notion pictures to $100, 000
per day for high-end budget notion pictures. He said, “Feature
films pay high union rates and comercials pay even higher.”

4:10: 55 PM

M5. TESAR stated that incentives attract films, which affect
markets, which help build local infrastructure that enploys
Al aska’s | abor forces. She opined that affects the |evel of

projects that would be attracted to filmin the state. Al aska
of fers nystique, backdrops, and the basic crew, but Al aska does
not have the incentives to bring in film productions. Al aska

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -15- March 17, 2008



receives calls from film producers that would like to filmin
Al aska, scripts are witten, awaiting incentives.

4:11: 38 PM

MR. CROCKETT referred to the slide |abeled, “Passage of SSSB
230" and stated that this bill would create jobs, diversify the
econony, stinulate tourism build infrastructure and support
services, provide opportunities for rural Alaska, develop
educational and internship progranms, and would also provide
transferable tax credits for Al aska s corporations.

M5. TESAR concluded with remarks that goals shared by AFG and
the state include progress, productivity, and putting Al askans
to work. She opined that SB 230 will do that. She urged
comm ttee nenber’s support for SB 230.

4:12:13 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX offered her support for SB 230. She
related her understanding that the film The Guardian was
weat hered out in Kodiak, and that the film noved not due just to
a lack of a tax incentive.

MR. CROCKETT agreed that there were weather problens. However ,
he noted that he nmet wth the Vice-President of physical
production who stated that if a Alaska had tax incentives, he
woul d have fought to have the filmcontinue filmng in Al aska.

4:14:15 PM

MR. CROCKETT, in response to Representative LeDoux, answered
that only two technical crew nmenbers participate in filmng The

Deadl i est Catch. In further response to Representative LeDoux
answered that this bill would offer incentives for |ocal hire.
4:16: 36 PM

The commttee took an at-ease from4:16 p.m to 4:18 p. m
4:18: 17 PM

REPRESENTATI VE NEUVMAN made a notion to adopt Amendnment 1 as
fol |l ows:

Page 4, line 21, follow ng "accountant":
Insert "selected by the filmoffice"

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 16- March 17, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN expl ai ned that since the expenditures
would be verified by an independent <certified public
accountant (CPA) under the bill, Amendrment 1 would add nore
credibility as the CPA firm would be selected by the film
office instead of the film producers.

4:18: 54 PM
SENATOR ELLI S offered his support for Amendnent 1.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO inquired as to whether the sponsor had a
preference for “approved” over “selected.”

SENATOR ELLIS offered his neutrality, but suggested he could

consult with legislative bill drafter and Alaska Film Goup to
see which term would be best. He offered that the intent is
positive.

4:19: 55 PM

CHAIR OLSON asked if there were any objections to adopt
Amendrent 1.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO obj ect ed.

Representative Gatto mnmade a notion to conceptually amend
Amendnent 1, as foll ows:

On page 4, line 21, follow ng “accountant”:
Del ete “sel ected”
| nsert “approved”

4:20: 28 PM

CHAIR OLSON stated that the Conceptual Amendnent to Anmendnent 1
woul d appear to limt the filmoffice.

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER noted that adding “approved” does not
precl ude selection, so she offered that adding “approved” would
expand and not limt the filmoffice’ s decisions.

REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX opined that adding the approval process
suggests that the film office nust have sone reason to support
is decision, which she thought would limt the film office’ s
di scretion, whereas if the selection is nmade by the film office,
it would have total discretion in the matter.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -17- March 17, 2008



REPRESENTATIVE NEUMAN if the film office [approves] the
accounting firminstead of selecting it, the film producer could
select the firm whereas the film office represents the state
and shoul d have control over the firmsel ected.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS inquired as to whether the anendnent to
t he amendnent is before the conmttee.

4:23:12 PM

A roll call vote was taken. Representatives Gatto and Gardner
voted in favor of the amendnent to Anendnent 1. Representatives
Neurman, LeDoux, Ranras, Buch, and dson voted against it.
Therefore, the amendnment to Amendnent 1 failed by a vote of 2-5.

CHAI R OLSON announced that the anendnent to Anendnent 1 fail ed.
Amendment 1 is now before the commttee.

There being no objection, Arendnent 1 was adopt ed.

4:23:32 PM

The commttee took an at-ease from4:23 p.m to 4:24 p. m

4:24:15 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS prefaced his notion to adopt Anmendnent 2,
with a cormment that he has a nodest conflict of interest since
Fai rbanks has hosted film actor Sean Penn and has participated

in the econom c cycl e descri bed.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS nade a notion to adopt Amendnent 2, which
read:

Page 6, line 10:
Delete ";"
| nsert "."

Page 6, lines 11 - 12:
Delete all material.

4:25:09 PM
REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER obj ect ed.

4:25:15 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 18- March 17, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS cautioned that the film office mght take
all the steps described, but could find that a significant
anount of credit was excluded since the payroll costs for stars
woul d not be included. He asked for clarification. He noted
that in the travel industry the nost valuable words uttered are,
“lI’”ve been there.” Many novie and television productions echo
that since people see series like Men in Trees and say, “I'm
going there.” He expressed his interest in noving forward with
SB 230.

SENATOR ELLIS noted that the Iimtation on tax incentive on high
wage talent was |anguage adopted by the Senate Finance
Comm tt ee. He agreed with Ranras that without the limtation
that the state would be nore conpetitive. He suggested that he
woul d be anenable to the commttee’'s decision on whether to
limt the incentives on high wage tal ent.

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN expressed concern that the state could be
liable for 30 percent of the wages for stars such as Sean Penn
i ncluding future royalties.

M5. TESAR answered that Representative Neuman is partially
correct, that the transferable tax credit would apply to the
portion of the salary paid while the talent is in production in
Al aska. She noted that illustrates the inportance of the
process with the CPA firm to closely nonitor the Al askan
portion.

MR. CROCKETT, in response to Representative Neuman, agreed that
the transferable tax credit for a production would be prorated
and no future royalties are paid. In further response to
Representative Neuman, M. Crockett answered that the cap is set
at $2 mllion.

4:31:40 PM
REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS expl ai ned Anendnent 2 is being offered to

maxi m ze the potential of attracting feature filnms that have big
name actors since the feature film production costs are

sonetinmes in the $100 nmllion range, while sone series have
production costs nuch |ower such as The Deadliest Catch, which
cost $3.7 mllion for the total production. Thus, the state

woul d benefit nore if it can attract filns featuring actors such
as Kevin Costner.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -19- March 17, 2008



M5. TESAR related that after SB 230 passed the Senate that
feedback from the industry was that the amendnent capping the
conpensati on and wages in excess of $2,000,000 per actor created
a large problem with the |egislation. QO her states that are
conpetitive do not have a cap considering the types of filns the
state wants to attract. Since SB 230 would create nore jobs and
a new industry in the state, M. Tesar argued against the
restriction. She further noted that SB 230 requires an annual
report to the legislature with a 5 year sunset on the bill.

4:34:18 PM
REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER r enmoved her obj ection.
There being no further objection, Amendnent 2 was adopt ed.

REPRESENTATI VE NEUMAN referred to the fiscal note nunber [3],
and read that “Alaska’s credit will therefore be one of the nost
generous in the nation in terns of the percent of qualified
producti on expenditures.”

4:36: 05 PM

SENATOR ELLIS, in response to Representative LeDoux, answered
that LLCs are not subject to state taxes.

REPRESENTATIVE RAMRAS clarified t hat he hol ds sever al
corporations for his businesses that are not subject to state
i ncome tax. He further explained that “C’ Corporations enjoy
certain benefits through the federal tax code. He offered that
hi s conpany does pay a fee to organi ze the corporation.

SENATOR ELLIS noted that the <cruise ships are organized
el sewher e.

4:37:36 PM

MAYA  FALGANEK, Associ ate Professor, University of Al aska
Fai r banks, stated that she is a professor of film studies and
nedi a. She also stated that she is the chair of the Digita

Cinema Curriculum Conmttee. She related that she helps to
guide upcomng directors, ci nemat ogr aphers, and animators
towards their vision and future career in the entertainnment
i ndustry. She noted that nost of her students are talented
Al askans who prefer to work in Alaska. She offered that she has
observed first hand how the filmindustry inpacted her home town
and the rural communities during 5 years as a native of New

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 20- March 17, 2008



Mexi co. She nentioned that during the past two weeks she has
been contacted by the United Nations, interested in filmng in

rural Al aska; by the D scovery Channel, interested in filmng a
statewide series called Al aska Wek, and by an international
crew at the Wirld lce Art Chanpionships. She also has been

offered an opportunity to co-produce a feature film which would
feature the Wirld Eskino Indian-Q ynpics in a fictitious comedy.
She explained that she has received the tel ephone calls since
her nane is listed on film office in Al aska. She opined that
people first contact the filmoffice for information. Wile she
realizes that the productions she nmentions are small productions
rangi ng from $500,000 to $1 million, she argued that considering
the small cost of funding the film office would be repaid with
one film She further opined that SB 230 would be the key to
unl ock larger productions with nulti mllion dollar budgets.
She related that Al aska s beauty is an export commodity, which
is a comodity Alaska can share with the world through its
filmns. She said she thinks that it is necessary to facilitate
the industry’s growmh and provide |ocal training. She rel ated
that UAF has a commtted group of faculty and staff ready to
provide training opportunities to students to help ensure the
jobs will be given to Al askans.

4:41. 04 PM

GORDON CARLSON stated he and his wfe, Rachel, reside in
Cantwell, Alaska and own a snmall construction conpany, CLI
Construction located in the Denali Borough. He encourages the
cormittee to vote in support of SB 230. Many novies nade
outside Alaska and Al aska needs to conpete. This bill would
boost the state’s econony and would offer a visual education of
what Al aska really |ooks Iike. Al aska tourism industry would

benefit greatly fromthis. H's experience is that the filmlnto
the WId brought $3 to $4 nillion in ground spend to the Denali

Borough, let alone the little community of Cantwell. The film
affected his small construction conpany, businesses, hotels,

restaurants, carpenters, and |aborers, as well as car rental

agencies in Anchorage and Fairbanks. He noted that the timng
of the April filmng offered a boost to the start of the
construction and tourism industry. He also opined that filns
shot in Alaska will encourage visitors to the state to see the

films location. He said that “passage of SB 230 would be an
asset to our state.”

4:42: 50 PM

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -21- March 17, 2008



DAMA CHASLE, Production Executive, stated that she is a
production executive in Los Angel es who has al so been an advi sor
on filmlegislation in other states. She related that nost of
the filns that depict Alaska have been shot in Canada. She
expl ai ned that when the business of filmlands in a state it is
a job incubator. She noted that one of the by products of |arge
filmse like The CGuardian are the “leave behinds” which in this
i nstance went to Shreveport, Louisiana such as a wave tank. She
noted that M. Costner bought a honme in Louisiana, which goes
beyond, “1’ve been there” to “I’'Il stay there”. She noted that
“hustl e and bustle” happens when actors and nmajor notion picture
stars are in a towm. She asked, “Wio doesn’t want to sit on the
bench where Forrest Gunp sat?” She suggested that SB 230 not be
l[imted by talent cap, at least until the industry becones a
sust ai nabl e industry. She pointed out that |ocal businesses
benefit such as |unberyards, hot el s, apart nents, casting
agenci es, equipnent rental, banks, and real estate offices fil

up when a production comes to town. She noted that cast and
crew spend their salary and per diem where they nake it. She
said she has seen success stories such as Shreveport, Louisiana
becoming multi-mllion dollar |eaders for the state. Loui si ana
is now nunber 3 in film production behind California, and New
York, followed by New Mexico. Al aska has a chance to be part of
the industry. She offered that the state could have digita

conpanies to provide year round training, to help prevent youth
from mgrating to the Lower-48. She surmsed that the state
woul d not just have one or two snmall reality shows, but the rea

Men in Trees, or the project that the Coen brothers would I|ike

to make in Al aska. She offered that if it is economcally
prudent for the studios, who are ultinmately the decision makers
for filmor series |ocation. In response to earlier testinony,

Ms. Chasle cautioned against being involved in profit and | oss
sharing with producers, since the state would also share in any
| osses the producer experienced. She also highlighted that the
production conpanies would be eligible for the transferable tax

credits. But that the talent, the expensive |eads, are not
eligible for transferable tax credits. She said, “I will end on
this note, from a favorite novie of mne Field of Dreans, a
little change, if you build it they will cone, ny sense is, if
you build this business in Al aska, they will stay.”

4:48: 46 PM

PAM FOREMAN stated that she would like to speak in favor of SB
230. This bill would allow Al aska an opportunity to participate
in this multi-mllion dollar film industry. She surm sed that

currently the film industry in Alaska is severely hanpered by

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE -22- March 17, 2008



the lack of a program She offered that from 1988 to 2007 she
served as the director of the Kodiak Island Convention and

Visitor’s Bureau. Wth the lack of a state film office, the
| ocal convention and visitor’s bureaus often stepped in to act
as a community’s film office. In 2003, she worked with John

Markel, who is a location scout located in Grdwod, Al aska.
She offered that M. Markel was scouting for a location for The
Guardi an and Kodiak was being considered since the film was
about a rescue swimmer stationed at a U S. Coast Cuard station
i n Kodi ak. The majority of the film was shot in Shreveport,
Loui siana and Elizabeth Cty, North Carolina. She expl ai ned by
the tinme Kodiak had weather problens, the mpjority of the film
had noved to Shreveport due to the lack of tax incentive
program  She urged support of SB 230.

4:51:17 PM

BRI CE HABEGER stated he is a resident of Al aska, but has spent
the last five years in Chicago in a film studies program He
graduated in Decenber with a degree in filmstudies. He offered
that he can shoot, edit, and perform nost production tasks. He
surm sed that Al askans are qualified. He hopes that his future
in filmindustry will be in Southeast Al aska. He surm sed that
the tax incentive programcould create jobs for people like him

4:52:46 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH inquired as to whether M. Habeger could
have studied filmin Al aska.

MR. Habeger answered that the UAF offers a digital studies
program which is a small scale program conpared to the Chicago
program which also offered opportunities and access to film
productions being shot on location in Chicago, studio equipnent,
caneras, professionally run sets. He opined that it was a
personal choice that best suited his needs.

4:53:49 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS offered that this bill offers the
opportunity to get young people involved in Alaska and to
showcase the state.

4:55:54 PM

CHAIR COLSON, after first determining no one else wshed to
testify, closed public testinony on SB 230.

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 23- March 17, 2008



4:56: 09 PM

SENATOR ELLIS, in response to Representative Neuman, answered
that the film industry would cover the costs of the independent
audi t.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO posed a scenario in which a person could
beconme an independent filmmker just to earn the transferable
tax credit, even though the person sinply took a vacation in
Al aska. The person would create a film and apply for the
transferable tax credit to cover costs of his/her vacation.

MR. HENSLEY referred to page 3, and noted that the eligibility
section establishes that the film office would approve
productions and would not approve an incentive for the type of
filmmentioned in the scenario.

MR. HENSLEY, in response to Representative Neuman, referred to
page 6, paragraph 2, excludes postproduction expenditures for
mar keting and distribution the transferable tax credit.

4:59:43 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS expressed his support for SB 230. He
related that several stars fromthe film Ice Age, even though
it was animated film visited Fairbanks, Al aska. Thi s
represented an opportunity to showase winter tourismin Al aska
whil e pronoting a high budget film he noted.

5:02: 02 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GARDNER noved to report CSSSSB 230(FIN) am as
anmended, out of conmmttee with individual recomendations and
t he acconpanying fiscal notes. There being no objection, HCS
CSSB 230(L&C) was reported from the House Labor and Commerce
St andi ng Comm ttee.

5:02: 35 PM
ADJ QURNIVENT

There being no further business before the conmttee, the
nmeeti ng was adjourned at 5:02 p.m

HOUSE L&C COW TTEE - 24- March 17, 2008



